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BRIGADIER GENERAL

DONALD J. ARMSTONG

[image: image4.wmf] Donald J. Armstrong began his military career as an Army Coast Defense Artillery lieutenant after completing his masters degree at Columbia University in 1910.  

During World War I, he served as an artillery officer in the American Expeditionary Forces.  Then he was assigned as an assistant military attaché in the American Embassy in Paris from 1919 to 1924.  
 
 He transferred to the Ordnance Department in 1923 and was assigned first to the research laboratory at Watertown Arsenal, then as a War Department planner, a member of the Field Artillery Board, and as Chief of the Maintenance Division in the Office of the Chief of Ordnance.
 
These demanding assignments provided a thorough grounding in research, development, industrial operations, and maintenance that would serve him well in the key positions he held during World War II.  
 
From 1939 to 1942, he served as Executive Officer and then Chief of the Chicago Ordnance District, coordinating industrial mobilization and wartime production in a region covering all or part of eight Midwestern states.  While he was assigned to the Chicago District, it awarded $2.7 billion dollars in Ordnance Department contracts.
 
Next, he took command of the newly established Tank-Automotive Center in Detroit, which would later become the Tank-Automotive Command.  The new center had broad responsibilities for procuring the Army’s tanks and automotive equipment.
 
In December 1942, he moved on to a new challenge--command of the Ordnance Replacement Training Center (ORTC) at Aberdeen Proving Ground, which trained all of the Ordnance Department’s individual replacements.  Armstrong reorganized the still-expanding center to into three training regiments that provided sequential basic and advanced training to as many as 14,000 soldiers at a time and graduated up to three companies of replacements each week.  He also established a Field Training Battalion that conducted a three-week field training exercise for all of the trainees at Camp Pickett, VA.

In August 1944, BG Armstrong was appointed Commandant of the Army Industrial College.  Much to his credit, he was instrumental in converting it to a joint-services institution, the Industrial College of the Armed Forces (ICAF).  During his tenure, 1,600 Naval officers became part of the student body and graduated from ICAF. 

BG Armstrong retired in 1946 after 35 years of distinguished military service and 23 years as an Ordnance officer.  He died in January 1984.
DOCTOR

FRANK E. GRUBBS
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Frank E. Grubbs began his military career as a field artillery lieutenant in the United States Army Reserve.  In 1941, armed with advanced degrees in electrical engineering and mathematical statistics, he entered active duty and transferred to the Ordnance Department.  
 
Following completion of training at the Ordnance School, he was assigned to the Ballistics Research Laboratory (BRL) at Aberdeen Proving Ground as a Ballistics Officer.  When he was promoted to captain in 1942, he was appointed Chief of BRL’s Surveillance Laboratory.  Although he returned to the Army Reserve as a lieutenant colonel in 1947, he continued to serve in this position as a Department of Army civilian until 1954.  During his tenure at the Surveillance Laboratory, he earned his Ph.D. in mathematical statistics and guided the laboratory’s efforts in evaluating the reliability and ballistic characteristics of projectiles, rockets, and guided missiles.

Indicative of his contributions to World War II, he was dispatched to England in 1944 as part of a team on a priority mission to sample and sort the artillery ammunition stockpiled for the invasion of France.  After the team conducted thousands of test firings of the hundreds of different lots of artillery ammunition in the stockpiles, he analyzed the statistical variations in the data and was able to divide the ammunition into four large categories based on their ballistic characteristics.  As a result, the firing batteries did not need to register each lot of ammunition before it was unpacked; they only needed to apply four sets of ballistic corrections to the firing tables to achieve their objectives.
 
From 1954 to 1962, he served as Chief of BRL’s Weapons Systems Laboratory and was a pioneer in applying operations research techniques to determine the characteristics and performance criteria desirable in improved weapons systems. 
 
In 1962, he became BRL’s Associate Technical Director and, from 1966 to 1968, simultaneously served as Director of the Army Materiel Systems Analysis Center (AMSAC), which was organized under BRL to perform independent studies of systems in more than one commodity area.  From 1968 to 1972, he was the Chief Operations Research Analyst for the US Army Aberdeen Research and Development Center.  In this capacity, he functioned as the senior scientific advisor on matters relating to operations research, systems analysis, probability, and mathematical statistics. 
 
In 1972, he was appointed Chief Operations Research Analyst for the entire US Army Ballistics Research Laboratory and functioned as main scientific advisor to the Director, each of the laboratory chiefs and other Army agencies involved in operations research, systems analysis and related fields.  
 
Dr. Grubbs retired in 1975 with 34 years of service.  His contributions to the Army and the Ordnance Corps include more than 80 professional articles and publications.  He died in January 2000.
MAJOR GENERAL
WALDO E. LAIDLAW
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Waldo E. Laidlaw graduated from the United States Military Academy in 1926 with a commission in the infantry.  He was detailed to he Ordnance Corps in 1931 after serving in the 31st Infantry Regiment in the Philippines and transferred to the Ordnance Department in 1935. 


 He graduated from the Massachusetts Institute of Technology (MIT) in 1932 with a degree in mechanical engineering and completed the Ordnance School in 1933 enroute to his first Ordnance assignment at Picatinny Arsenal. 


In Picatinny’s Time Fuse Division, he put his MIT education in time and motion studies to work.  Much to his credit, he not only increased time fuse production from 2,400 to 4,200 a day but also significantly reduced the cost per fuse.  Impressed with Laidlaw’s enthusiasm, the arsenal commander selected him as the Assistant to the Chief of the Ammunition Research and Development Branch.  
 

From 1937 to 1939, he commanded the 27th Ordnance Maintenance Company, First Cavalry Division, Ft. Bliss, Texas.  Prior to the US entry in World War II, he served in the Office of the Chief of Ordnance and was responsible for preparing tables of organization, technical manuals, and supply parts lists for the growing number of units and types of equipment in the Army’s force structure.
 

In July 1942, he was assigned as the Ordnance Officer at the New York Port of Embarkation (NYPOE), where he coordinated the shipment of more than 150,000 items of Ordnance equipment and supplies through three aerial and seven seaports.  At the conclusion of the war in Europe, he transferred to the San Francisco Port of Embarkation and put his experience to work in shipping the supplies and equipment needed for the impending invasion of Japan.  


 
With the end of the war in the Pacific, he was transferred to Germany and served as Assistant Chief of Staff for Logistics for the Continental Base Section of the European Command from 1946 to 1947.  Next he was assigned as Fourth Army Ordnance Officer at Ft. Sam Houston, Texas and then as Commandant of the Ordnance School at Aberdeen Proving Ground, where he directed the expansion of the training base to meet the needs of the Korean War. 

 
In 1952, he took command of the Ordnance Ammunition Center which was comprised of 23 ammunition plants, most of which had to be reactivated and ramped up to produce the $270 million worth of ammunition needed each month during the Korean War period.

Following a tour as the Chief of Staff of Army Forces, Caribbean Command, he culminated his career as Commander, White Sands Missile Range where he directed a major expansion to accommodate the military’s growing missile development program. 

 MG Laidlaw retired in 1960 after 34 years of distinguished active service.  He died in October 1987.
DOCTOR

JOHN W. MAUCHLY
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John W. Mauchly earned a Ph.D. in physics from Johns Hopkins University in 1932 and accepted a physics Professorship at Ursinus College in Philadelphia the following year. 
 


At Ursinus, Dr. Mauchly became interested in electronic computing circuitry.  He assumed that a device that took advantage of vacuum tubes and electronic circuits had the potential to complete mathematical calculations far more quickly than existing mechanical computing devices.

Dr. Mauchly’s interest in electronic computing led him to the Moore School of Electrical Engineering at the University of Pennsylvania, where he took a course on “Defense Training in Electronics” in the summer of 1941.   At Penn he met a young, talented electrical engineer, J. Presper Eckert, who shared his interest in an electronic calculating machine.  

 

The US Army Ordnance Corps was also interested in such a device.  In the early 1940s, the Army was having difficulty completing all the ballistics calculations needed to prepare firing tables for the many new artillery pieces coming off the World War II assembly lines.

 
In July 1943, the Ordnance Corps’ Ballistics Research Laboratory at Aberdeen Proving Ground (APG) offered Dr. Mauchly and Eckert a contract to develop ENIAC (Electronic Numerical Integrator and Computer), the world’s first electronic computer.  Dr. Mauchly applied his considerable talents to designing the computer while Eckert used his engineering skills to build reliable, efficient components.  


 
Completed in late 1945, ENIAC was installed and unveiled at APG in February 1946.  The massive machine weighed 30 tons, occupied 1,800 feet of floor space, and contained 17,468 vacuum tubes.  However, it completed calculations 100 to 1,000 times faster than existing mechanical calculators.  Computations on a projectile trajectory that used to take 20 hours could now be done in 30 seconds.
 

Even before ENIAC was completed, Dr. Mauchly and his team began working on EDVAC, a second-generation computer that could be internally programmed.  
 
EDVAC joined ENIAC at APG in August 1949, making the Proving Ground the world’s premier computer center in the early 1950’s.  These computers calculated projectile and rocket ballistic trajectories, performed hydrogen bomb calculations, predicted weather patterns, and facilitated wind tunnel design.  Dr. Mauchly died in January 1980.
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GENERAL

JOHN G. COBURN
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John G. Coburn graduated from Eastern Michigan University and was commissioned in 1962.  During the course of his long career, he served in Vietnam, Saudi Arabia, Taiwan, and Germany as well as a number of stateside assignments.  While oversees, he commanded Headquarters and Headquarters Company, III Corps; served as an assistant operations officer in II Field Force, Vietnam; held a series of key assignments in the Taiwan Materiel Agency; advised the Saudi Arabian Army; commanded the 124th Maintenance Battalion and the 2nd Armored Division Support Command; and served as the Deputy Chief of Staff for Logistics, US Army Europe.

 
In 1992, he became the Chief of Ordnance and Commanding General of the Ordnance Center and School.  Indicative of his most significant accomplishments, he reorganized the school based on a bottom-up review of the efficiency of the organization’s operations; moved power-generation equipment training from Fort Belvoir to APG; spearheaded efforts to consolidate proponent Military Occupational Specialties; and prepared for the transfer of signal maintenance military occupational specialties to the Ordnance Corps.  He also instituted a Reserve Component Advisory Program, established a centralized computer laboratory for teaching the Standard Army Maintenance System, redesigned the Ordnance Battle Labs Program, and revitalized the Advanced Noncommissioned Officer Course.
 

In 1994, he was promoted to Lieutenant General and assigned as Deputy Commanding General, US Army Materiel Command (AMC).  With his guidance, AMC developed  the Bosnia Technology Integration Cell to enhance the command’s support to forces deployed to Bosnia; established the Industrial Operations Command to manage the Army’s arsenals, depots, and war reserve stocks;  simplified the contracting process; reduced administrative and production lead times;  and supported Force XXI initiatives in the areas of equipment, techniques and systems. 

From 1996 to 1999, he served as the Army Deputy Chief of Staff for Logistics and assumed responsibility for policy, planning, programming, budgeting, management, staff supervision, evaluation, oversight and information system support for all of the logistics activities of the Department of the Army.

 
In 1999, he became the fourth Ordnance 4-star General Officer in US Army history and assumed command of AMC.  In addition to other command responsibilities he assumed responsibility as the Single Manager for Conventional Ammunition for all of the armed services, a program involving $1.2 billion a year in Army ammunition procurement and an additional $345 million in procurement orders for the other services, as well as the management of a $28 billion conventional ammunition stockpile.  Much to his credit, he also actively promoted “A Revolution in Military Logistics” through the Wholesale Logistics Modernization Program, designed to enhance logistics support through the use of the latest practices and technological developments.
 

General Coburn retired in 2001 after almost 40 years of distinguished service to his country and the Ordnance Corps.
BRIGADIER GENERAL
ANTHONY F. DASKEVICH
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Anthony F. Daskevich began his Army career as an enlisted soldier in 1941.  Rising through the ranks, he received a battlefield commission during World War II and led a tank platoon in combat in the European Theater.  In 1951, following an assignment as a maintenance officer in Germany, he transferred from the Armor Branch to the Ordnance Corps and took command of the 18th Ordnance Medium Maintenance Company in Germany.

In his next assignment as an instructor for the Officer Basic and Advanced Courses at the Ordnance  School, he was  given responsibility for revising Field Manual 9-10, the only Army publication dealing with Direct Support maintenance operations at the time.  Much to his credit, he applied lessons learned as a maintenance company commander and combat veteran to update and improve field maintenance doctrine.
 

Following assignments as Ordnance Advisor to the Venezuelan Army and as a project officer on the Ordnance Board, which was subsequently incorporated into the Maintenance Agency, Combat Developments Command, Aberdeen Proving Ground, he took command of the 4th Ordnance Battalion (Maintenance and Supply) in Korea.  This battalion integrated all non-divisional Ordnance, Signal, Engineer Maintenance, and Quartermaster units in South Korea and was one the precursors of the multi-functional corps support battalion.  Under his leadership, the 4th Ordnance Battalion developed the standing operating procedures necessary for these diverse units to function as a team. 

 
From 1966 to 1969, he was assigned to Combat Developments Command, most notably as the project officer for a Department of the Army project known as Combat Operational Loss and Expenditure Data-Vietnam (COLED-V).  Within three months, he devised a collection plan and organized teams to collect data on combat vehicles damaged by enemy artillery and assess artillery ammunition expenditure rates.  The results led to improvements in vehicle survivability and laid the groundwork for developing revised ammunition expenditure tables.

 
Concurrently, he was tapped to support a Department of Defense project for Utilization and Redistribution of Material in the Pacific Area (PURM).  Here again, he and his team excelled.  Under LTG Heiser’s guidance, they developed an inter-service plan to identify and redistribute excess material that, in turn, helped the government avoid both unnecessary new procurement and drains on existing depot stocks.

 
He culminated his career in a number of key assignments:  Commander, Tooele Army Depot, 1969 to 1971; Commander, VII Corps Support Command, 1971 to 1973, and Deputy Commanding General, US Army Tank-Automotive Command (TACOM), 1973 to 1975.  At TACOM, he overhauled the wholesale supply operation, improving stock availability from 58 to 85 percent, and established a liaison program with the divisions and separate regiments specifically designed to address the units’ readiness problems. 
 

BG Daskevich retired in 1975 after 34 years of service, 24 of them as an Ordnance officer who made a wide range of contributions to the Corps.

CHIEF WARRANT OFFICER FOUR
JAY G. GRUWELL

[image: image15.wmf]Jay G. Gruwell joined the Army in 1949 and became an Ordnance soldier in 1952. Subsequently, he served as a wheeled vehicle mechanic, Ordnance supply clerk, motor sergeant, and vehicle inspector.

In 1961, he received a direct appointment as a warrant officer. Following his initial assignment as a maintenance technician for the 39th Transportation Company in Germany, he was assigned to the 2nd Battalion, 2nd Infantry, at Fort Devens Massachusetts where he established a program for field maintenance support, to include Operations in Arctic conditions.  During exercise “Great Bear” in Alaska, his maintenance team achieved a 90 percent vehicle availability rate despite bitter sub-zero temperatures.

Afterwards, he was assigned to Taiwan where he served as Ordnance Supply Advisor to the Republic of China Army.  In this capacity, he developed a maintenance and rebuild program to extend the life of Taiwan’s aging World War II vehicles and 90mm guns. 

 
Following a brief stateside tour as battalion maintenance officer in the 4th Infantry Division at Fort Lewis, he was assigned as shop officer first for the 538th Engineer Battalion (Construction) in Thailand, then for C Company, 51st Maintenance Battalion in Germany.  Much to his credit, he established a maintenance program for the 538th that improved the battalion’s operational rate to 85 percent despite heavy equipment use and tropical conditions.  Likewise, in less than three months, he provided the technical leadership critical to helping the 51st eliminate a backlog of over 300 deadlined 5-ton trucks.  
 

After a tour in South Vietnam as maintenance officer for 2nd Battalion, 77th Artillery, 25th Infantry Division, he returned to Germany where he made a number of contributions while assigned first to the 1st Support Brigade, and then to Miesau Army Depot.  In the lst Support Brigade, he developed and supervised repair allocations and training programs for maintenance of over 650 newly introduced International Harvester “Fleetstar” tractors, and established a maintenance plan for rehabilitation of POMCUS (prepositioned) stocks.  As Chief of Inventory at Miesau, he planned, staffed, and organized the inventory management functions for more than 240,000 short tons of ammunition,  the largest ammunition inventory outside of the United States;  under his leadership, the depot consistently maintained oversight of this inventory with at least 95 percent accuracy.
 
He culminated his military career as a Training Battalion Maintenance Officer at Fort Knox, and retired in 1976 after 27 years in uniform.  Then, he joined the Chrysler Corporation as a quality-control engineer at its Detroit Arsenal Tank Plant and began a 17-year career in the civilian sector which kept him closely involved in the production of the M60 tank, the M1 Tank, and the follow-on series of Abrams Tanks until 1993.  

In April 1993, CW4 Gruwell moved to Sarasota, Florida to reside near members of his immediate family.  He died in September 2001.

DOCTOR

PHILIP W. LETT
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Armed with a Ph.D. in mechanical engineering from the University of Michigan, Dr. Philip W. Lett joined Chrysler Defense Operations in 1950, beginning a life-long association with armored vehicle research and development.  
He was first involved in the development of the M48 series tank.  As project engineer, he supervised the technical effort and coordinated with the Army in the test and evaluation process.  The M48 contained numerous design firsts:  the one-piece cast turret and hull permitted seamless gradations in the thickness of its armor and 

optimized ballistic protection; and, largely as a result of Dr. Lett’s contributions in fire control design and development, it was the first US tank with a rangefinder and ballistic computer.


In 1954, Dr. Lett became Chief Engineer with major responsibilities for the Army’s next main battle tank, the M60.  The M60 tank incorporated numerous improvements, many of which were retrofitted to the M48.  Much to Dr. Lett’s credit, the M60 accepted a much larger, 105mm gun and took advantage of an air-cooled diesel engine which was much less susceptible to catching fire than the gasoline engines initially used in the M48 series tanks.
 

 In 1972, when the Army launched its XM-1 tank program and provided development and unit-cost requirements to potential manufacturers, Dr. Lett led General Dynamics’ design and development team efforts to win the contract.  His team won the competition against General Motors by best meeting the Army’s stringent performance and reliability specifications at a lower unit production cost.   For the remainder of his career, Dr. Lett led the General Dynamics Land Systems’ team through the development, testing, and production of the M1 Abrams Tank and its follow-on variants.  He and his team were responsible for many of the series innovative features—compartmentalized ammunition, composite armor, a 120mm main gun, the first ever tank turbine engine, an excellent suspension system, and a stabilized fire control system—and ultimately a combat weapon system of unprecedented power and speed with the first truly successful, high-speed “shoot-on-the-move” capability. As a result, he is generally considered to be the “Father of the M1 Tank,” the 20th Century’s finest armored fighting vehicle and one which will serve US Army well for many years to come.

 
The success of Dr. Lett’s efforts were clearly demonstrated during Operation Desert Storm, when M1 tanks destroyed more than 2,000 enemy tanks while suffering only 18 damaged M1s in return.  

 
Upon retirement, Dr. Lett continues as a consultant to General Dynamics, and his advice on armor vehicle design is sought worldwide.
 
MAJOR GENERAL

CHESTER M. MCKEEN, JR.
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Chester M. McKeen, Jr. received his commission as a second lieutenant upon graduation from the Ordnance Officer Candidate School in 1943 and served in the Pacific with the 362nd Ordnance Maintenance Company (Anti-Aircraft) during the assault on Iwo Jima.  
In 1947, he was assigned as a production Planning Control Officer at the Frankford Arsenal in Philadelphia where he developed a pioneering production control system using IBM punch-card technology.   Taking advantage of the efficiencies gained from this system, he managed over  $1 billion in new production work during the first year of the Korean War and subsequently assumed responsibility for the management of all fire control production for the Office Chief of Ordnance.
 

From 1954 to 1956, he served as Chief of the Management Section in the Comptroller Branch, Ordnance Division, HQ USAREUR.  Charged with improving the Division’s supply functions, he developed a centralized stock control system that used linked electrical accounting machines to track more than 140,000 items in depots scattered across France and Germany.  Following Command and General Staff College and completion of the Military Assistance Institute, he was assigned to the Military Assistance Advisory Group, Vietnam in 1960.  Then, he had consecutive assignments in the Requirements Division, Office of the Deputy Chief of Staff for Logistics (DCSLOG); Office of the Assistant Secretary of the Army, Installations and Logistics; the US Military Assistance Advisory Group, Germany; the US Arms Control and Disarmament Agency; and Headquarters, Department of Army, where he served as the Director of Materiel Acquisition for the DCSLOG.  In this position, he was instrumental in developing and gaining Congressional approval for a $12 billion modernization plan for the Army’s aging ammunition plants. 
 

After a brief tour in Vietnam as Commander, US Army Procurement Agency, he was appointed Deputy Commander, US Army Tank-Automotive Command (TACOM).   During this assignment, he initiated a program to enhance the performance of the Army’s 2 ½-ton and 5-ton trucks, which enabled them to function effectively in sandy terrain. 

 
In 1972, he reported for duty as Director of Requirements and Procurement in HQ, US Army Materiel Command and successfully negotiated a major contract with Saudi Arabia for 2 ½ and 5-ton trucks.  This contract not only resolved a series of earlier international misunderstandings but also resulted in a production line that reduced the costs to the Army for subsequent buys.
 

In the last three years of his career, first as Project Manager for Tank Production Acceleration then as Commander, TACOM, he was largely responsible for accelerating the production of the M60 tank and upgrading the M48 series tank to the M48A5.  Much to his credit, both programs were completed ahead of schedule and under cost.
 

MG McKeen retired in 1975 after 35 years of distinguished service to the Army and the Ordnance Corps.

MAJOR GENERAL

JAMES W. MONROE
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A 1963 distinguished graduate of West Virginia State College, James W. Monroe attended first the Ordnance Officer Basic Course in 1963 and then Armor Officer Basic Course in 1964.


From this point, he began a distinguished career in the Ordnance Corps which included a variety of significant staff assignments and command at every level through major general.

His initial assignments were in Germany, where he was a Platoon Leader for the 31st Ordnance Company and two armored cavalry platoons in the 9th Cavalry, 4th Infantry Division and later Commander, 621st General Supply Company.

He served as Ordnance Advisor to the Saudi Army’s Chief of Ordnance from 1968 to 1969 and, after an assignment as Assistant Professor of Military Science, earned a M.A. in Political Science with a concentration in Middle Eastern Studies from the University of Cincinnati in 1973. 

In addition to assignments as Strategic Intelligence Officer at the Pentagon and Instructor at the Industrial College of the Armed Forces, Monroe commanded the 61st Maintenance Company in Korea, the 71st Maintenance Battalion in Germany, and the 24th Infantry Division Support Command at Fort Stewart.

 
Following command at Fort Stewart, he served as the Assistant Chief of Staff, G-4, for the US Army Central Command (ARCENT) and then, as the Deputy Chief of Staff for Logistics and Deputy for Host Nation Support at ARCENT during Operation Desert Storm.
 
In 1991, he was assigned as Deputy Commanding General, US Army Tank-Automotive Command.  While in this position, he received a temporary assignment first as the Deputy Commander, and later as the Commanding General, of the Army Materiel Command’s Logistics Support Group during the Hurricane Andrew relief efforts.

 
In 1994, he was selected as Commanding General, US Army Ordnance Center and School, and Chief of Ordnance.  In this assignment, he was instrumental in reorganizing and stabilizing the School’s workforce after the turbulence caused by the establishment of the Combined Arms Support Command.  
 
In 1995, he assumed command of the US Army Industrial Operations Command (IOC) at Rock Island, Illinois.  This newly established command encompassed the Army’s arsenals, depots, plants, and prepositioned stocks and contained 80 per cent of the Army’s industrial base with assets totaling over $27 billion.  Under his leadership, the IOC matured into a worldwide command linking more than 23,000 military and civilian personnel and 11,000 contractor personnel located in 25 states and 8 overseas locations to the United States defense industry.  

MG Monroe retired in 1998 after 35 years of service to the Army and the Ordnance Corps.
DOCTOR

ROCCO A. PETRONE
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Rocco A. Petrone graduated from the United States Military Academy and was commissioned an Ordnance officer in 1946. 


 
After serving in maintenance units for three years in Germany, the Army sent him to the Massachusetts Institute of Technology.  He earned a masters degree in mechanical engineering from MIT in 1951 and was well on his way to completing a doctorate when the Army transferred him to Redstone Arsenal in 1952 to join the Ordnance Corps’ Redstone Missile Program.  While assigned to the Arsenal, he participated in the development of the Redstone, the nation’s first ballistic missile and was a member of the Missile Firing Laboratory when the first Redstone launch took place at Cape Canaveral in August 1953.   


Thus, began Petrone’s long association with America’s missile development program, first with the Ordnance Corps and then with the National Aeronautics and Space Administration (NASA). 

 
From 1956 to 1960, he served on the Army General Staff where he worked closely with the Office of the Chief of Ordnance to develop maintenance support packages for the emerging family of Army rockets and guided missiles.  Afterwards, the Army agreed to loan him to NASA at Cape Kennedy as the Saturn project officer, and in 1961, he was assigned as the Apollo Program Manager.  While on loan to NASA, he was involved in the first 4 Saturn launches and was responsible for the planning, construction, and activation of the launch facilities for the Apollo Program.
 

In 1966, he retired from the Army as a lieutenant colonel and joined the civilian workforce at NASA as the Director of Launch Operations.  His launch team was responsible for the checkout and launching of all space vehicles, to include the famous Apollo 11, the first lunar landing.  Subsequently, he was promoted to Director of the Apollo Program in Washington, DC, where he was responsible for the overall direction and management of the remaining Apollo launches, and then assigned as Program Director for the Joint US/Soviet Apollo-Soyuz Test Project.  In recognition of his contributions to the nation, Rollins College awarded him an honorary Doctorate of Science in 1969.
 

In 1973, NASA appointed him as the Director of the Marshall Space Flight Center in Huntsville, Alabama, and shortly thereafter as the Associate Administrator at NASA Headquarters. In this position, he was the third-ranking executive in NASA and responsible for all of NASA’s research and development programs.
 
When he left NASA in 1975, he was appointed President and Chief Executive of the non-profit National Center for Resource Recovery, dedicated to the recovery of materials and energy from solid waste. 

In 1981, Dr. Petrone joined Rockwell International and became President of the Space Transportation Systems Division where he was charged with the development and production of the space shuttle orbiter and continued his work as one of America’s pioneers in guided missile and space flight development.

Command Sergeant Major

Billy E. Prysock  
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Billy E. Prysock entered the Army in 1954, beginning a long career as a manager, trainer, and leader in the ammunition field. 
He served as an ammunition platoon sergeant and twice as first sergeant in ammunition companies during two tours of duty in Vietnam. 
He also served three tours of duty at the Ordnance Missile and Munitions Center and School, progressing from assignments as instructor,

chief instructor, and sergeant major for the Directorate of Training.  During these assignments, he was instrumental in restructuring the enlisted ammunition career field and implementing the Basic and Advanced Noncommissioned Officer Courses.  
In 1975, command sergeant major of the 19th Support 

Group in Korea, he served on two major study groups.  One group devised a system for the renovation and maintenance of Republic of Korea ammunition stocks, and the other group developed plans for the shipment of ammunition north of the Han River in the event of war.
 
While serving as the command sergeant major for the US Army Logistics Center from 1985 to 1987, he applied his expertise in training to restructure and improve the Noncommissioned Officer Education System.  Assisted by the school command sergeants major, he developed a Noncommissioned Officer Academy model for the Log Center’s four associated schools, which included the Ordnance Center and School and the Ordnance Missile and Munitions Center and School.
 
In addition, he served tours of duty as command sergeant major for the 19th Support Command, Korea; Pusan Garrison, Korea; 7th Infantry Division, Fort Ord;  Depot Systems Command, Chambersburg, Pennsylvania; 3rd Support Command, Germany; and Missile Command, Redstone Arsenal.  While serving in these organizations, he received universal praise from his commanders for his attention to the needs of his soldiers and their families.  
 
During his career, he trained and mentored more than 75 command sergeants major, 18 staff sergeants major, and 169 first sergeants.
 
CSM Prysock retired in 1989 after 35 years of distinguished service to the Army and the Ordnance noncommissioned officer corps.

DOCTOR

JOSEPH SPERRAZZA
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After graduating from Cooper Union School of Engineering in 1941, Joseph Sperrazza embarked on a 38-year Department of the Army career as an engineer, researcher, and systems analyst for the Ordnance Corps’ Ballistics Research Laboratory, culminating as Director of the US Army Materiel Systems Analysis Activity (AMSAA) at Aberdeen Proving Ground (APG).  In the process, he earned an M.S. and Ph.D. in engineering from Johns Hopkins University.

 
Dr. Sperrazza carried out pioneering work in the fields of systems analysis, wound ballistics, and weapons effects to ensure that the best possible weapons and equipment were developed and fielded.  

 
He chaired the Joint Technical Coordinating Group for Munitions Effectiveness which assessed weapons effectiveness in Vietnam and resulted in a three-volume study on wound data. 


 The Battlefield Damage Assessment and Reporting Team extended this work into the area of weapons effects on materiel.  Wound data and studies of weapons effects led to the development of Kevlar body armor, armor plate, and helmets as well as improved small arms ammunition for automatic weapons.  Likewise, his studies of gun tube erosion and its effect on ballistics led to improvements in artillery systems.

 
Dr. Sperrazza’s research into weapons and munitions effects also led to many improvements in equipment survivability.  Under his guidance, AMSAA developed the TOW antitank system under armor, increased helicopter survivability through improved design of critical parts, added lightweight armor to the S-280 Shelter, and configured safer storage for propellant charges on the M109 self-propelled howitzer.
 
Starting in 1968, Dr. Sperrazza led AMSAA in performing systems analysis studies in support of research and development efforts by the arsenals, commodity commands, project managers, and the 

Department of the Army staff.  These studies identified where efficiencies could be realized without sacrificing effectiveness and resulted in millions of dollars saved in the procurement of LORAN (Long-Range Navigation), SLAE (Standard Lightweight Avionics Equipment), and wheeled and track vehicles.  
 
He also applied systems analysis to the research and development process itself, improving the design of experiments, simulations, and tests by placing emphasis on the replication of realistic battlefield conditions.  
 
A meticulous and exacting engineer, Dr. Sperrazza produced an enviable record of creative achievements, which have materially contributed to the strength of our military posture.  

 
Dr. Sperrazza retired from AMSAA in 1979.  He died in June 1998.
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